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 2007 2006 Change
 HK$’000 HK$’000 %

INCOME STATEMENTS

Turnover 2,771,092 2,240,998 +23.7%
Profit before Taxation 111,799 90,099 +24.1%
Profit Attributable to Shareholders 94,974 77,637 +22.3%
Dividends 44,550 62,370 –28.6%

BALANCE SHEETS

Total Assets 1,198,764 1,230,588 –2.6%
Total Borrowings 425,989 489,328 –12.9%
Shareholders’ Funds of equity holders of the Company 664,809 611,734 +8.7%

CASH FLOW

Cash Generated from (Used in)
 Operating Activities 78,401 (119,649) n.a.
Working Capital 336,157 324,837 +3.5%
Capital Expenditure 836 539 +55.1%
Earnings Per Share 21.32¢ 17.43¢ +22.3%
Dividends Per Share 10.0¢ 14.0¢ –28.6%
Shareholders’ Fund Per Share 1.49 1.37 +8.8%
Interest Cover 5.24X 6.79X n.a.
Dividend Cover 2.14X 1.25X n.a.

Notes:

1. Earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by 445,500,000 shares in 
issue during 2007 (2006: 445,500,000 shares)

2. Interest Cover is calculated by dividing profit before tax and interest charges by interest charges.

3. Dividend Cover is calculated by dividing Earnings per Share by Dividends Per Share.
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Ten Year Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31st December,

 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 1,826,177 1,223,055 1,053,704 860,920 1,072,821 1,224,230
      

Profit before taxation 82,050 85,669 48,208 36,524 8,527 46,300
Taxation (7,540) (6,810) (2,946) (4,640) (3,884) (6,029)
      

Profit for the year 74,510 78,859 45,262 31,884 4,643 40,271
      

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at 31st December,

 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 785,566 800,560 795,298 796,002 826,708 934,586

Total liabilities (252,355) (220,520) (197,432) (188,002) (229,503) (310,219)
      

 533,211 580,040 597,866 608,000 597,205 624,367
      

Equity attributable to:

Equity holders of

 the Company 512,001 563,314 581,166 592,737 581,134 606,775
Minority interests 21,210 16,726 16,700 15,263 16,071 17,592
      

 533,211 580,040 597,866 608,000 597,205 624,367
      

Notes:

1. The above financial summary prior to 2002 has not been adjusted to take into account the effect on the adoption of SSAP 12 
(Revised) “Income taxes” issued by HKICPA as the directors considered that it is not practicable to do so.

2. The above financial summary prior to 2003 has not been adjusted to take into account the effect on the adoption of certain 
HKFRSs that are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2005.

3. The above financial summary prior to 2004 has not been adjusted to take into account the effect on the adoption of HKAS 39 
(Amendment) “The fair value option” which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2006.

KEY DATA

 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003

Interest cover (times) 9.61 13.70 4.83 7.21 2.95 13.17
Dividends per share (cents) 6.00 6.50 5.00 2.50 2.50 3.00
Earnings per share (cents) 15.60 17.50 9.80 6.90 0.93 8.69
Net assets per share (HK$) 1.15 1.26 1.30 1.33 1.30 1.36
Gearing 0.35 0.25 0.25 0.23 0.31 0.40
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Net Profit

Equity

Turnover

 2004 2005 2006 2007

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 1,770,634 1,964,169 2,240,998 2,771,092
    

 61,971 83,655 90,099 111,799

 (9,300) (11,881) (9,923) (9,953)
    

 52,671 71,774 80,176 101,846
    

 2004 2005 2006 2007

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

 987,762 949,328 1,230,588 1,198,764

 (357,571) (334,196) (596,123) (503,900)
    

 630,191 615,132 634,465 694,864
    

 610,417 593,399 611,734 664,809

 19,774 21,733 22,731 30,055
    

 630,191 615,132 634,465 694,864
    

 2004 2005 2006 2007

 16.29 9.49 6.79 5.24

 12.50 20.00 14.00 10.00

 11.51 15.77 17.43 21.32

 1.37 1.33 1.37 1.49

 0.49 0.46 0.80 0.64
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Chairman’s Statement

The Kee Shing Group reported a growth of sales turnover by 23.7% to HK$2,771.09 million primarily due to rising metal prices 
in the fiscal year 2007. Despite the unsatisfactory return from trading business, profit attributable to shareholders achieved a 
growth of 22.3% to HK$94.97 million with benefits of properties appreciation in Shanghai and Hong Kong markets and gains 
from selling part of residential properties during the year.

Interim dividend of 4.0 Hong Kong cents per ordinary share was declared on 18th September, 2007. Subject to the approval of 
shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors recommended a final dividend for 2007 of 6.0 
Hong Kong cents per ordinary share (2006: 6.0 Hong Kong cents per ordinary share) payable on or before 20th June, 2008 to 
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company as at 23rd May, 2008.

BUSINESS REVIEW
The year of 2007 was the most challenging year to Kee Shing Group over the past 10 years. We experienced headwind collision 
into different types of risk areas since summer. For trading sector, new high range of volatility in metal and raw material prices 
suppressed purchase interests from end-users located in China and Southeast Asian countries. Overall demand turned sluggish 
as many manufacturers located in China faced a harsh operating environment including stricter environmental protection 
regulations, rising labor cost, shortage of electricity and water, tougher import and export regulation, and tightening of 
monetary policies by the Chinese government, etc. Changes of a number of suppliers’ marketing position and strategies raised 
difficulties to the Group in managing inventory level and purchase orders. Increasing price-pressure and inventory loss due to 
sharp fall in nickel prices since summer 2007 caused an overall disappointing result in the trading sector.

The outburst of sub-prime mortgage crisis in the U.S. resulting in a massive selling in global equity and debt markets since 
August put pressure on the Group’s securities portfolio. Credit crunch, threat of inflation and weak dollar also misted up the 
outlook of global financial markets. As we were well diversified and positioned the Group’s portfolio at early of the year, we 
reported a total realized and unrealized gain of HK$11.47 million arising from securities investment during the year.

Shanghai property market continued to grow steadily over the past few years. Shortage of new supply in office spaces pushed 
market rents as well as market prices further up during the year. With support of domestic and foreign demand, Shanghai 
residential property market also came flourishing. We sold 15 units of residential flats, mainly in the second half of the year, 
with gain of HK$11.70 million. Together with appreciation of Renminbi and mounting inflation, a total revaluation gain of 
HK$61.60 million was credited for the fiscal year of 2007.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Group is committed to adopt governance principles and standards to safeguard the interests of shareholders and 
stakeholders. The Group’s Corporate Governance Report is set out on page 11 to page 16 in this Annual Report.

OUTLOOK
After Chinese New Year in 2008, overall market demand has shown a modest pick-up mainly because of stock replenishment 
by industrial end-users. We are still uncertain of the extent of impact among Asian demand markets, which are largely export-
oriented, upon the weakening US economy during 2008. It is notable that China economy continues to grow strongly and the 
Chinese central government has expressed great concern on soaring inflation pressure. Swiftly rise in Renminbi against the US 
dollar since December 2007 helped to ease part of pressure on price gap between international markets and China domestic 
market. It is expected that Chinese central government will continue to introduce administrative measures and tighten 
monetary policies so as to cool down the overheating economy. Ongoing pressure on global supply of commodity and high 
oil price is likely to lead an increasing volatility in metal and other raw material prices throughout the year. The Group will 
maintain a cautious stance to manage inventory level and retain high alert in credit receivables.

The Group has set up a new wholly-owned subsidiary in China engaged as trading arm to meet expanding demand from 
customers located in China. In spite of the slowing down on Shanghai residential properties transactions, we will continue to 
sell our residential flat units to the market at gradual pace. Global financial markets are expected to keep facing unprecedented 
turmoil in regards of sub-prime mortgage risk exposure, weak housing market in the U.S., an abrupt re-pricing of credit risk, 
and worries how US economic slowdown will affect the overall global economies. The Group will endeavor to maneuver in 
such volatile condition and adjust asset-allocation of the securities portfolio in any perceived opportunity.

I would like to thank to all staff who worked strenuously in dealing with all the difficulties that we confronted in 2007. 
Amid persistent uncertainties, the Group will continue to envisage this challenging environment, keep focused and realize 
opportunities from market recovery.

LEUNG SHU WING
Chairman

Hong Kong, 10th April, 2008
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OPERATION REVIEW
Trading Division

The principal trading activities of the Group and the contribution of each activity to the Group are summarized as below:

 Turnover Segment Results

For the Year ended: 31.12.2007 31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Electroplating Materials and Chemicals 2,568,447 2,060,093 30,715 56,412
Paint and Coating Chemicals 122,428 93,880 6,277 5,449
Stainless Steel 57,416 65,647 7,903 9,796
    

Total 2,748,291 2,219,620 44,895 71,657
    

Electroplating Materials and Chemicals

Total turnover of electroplating materials rose by 24.7% to HK$2.57 billion. This increase is mainly attributed to the effect of 
high selling prices of base metals and precious metals. During the year, we experienced impacts arising from highly volatile 
metal prices, change of selling terms and conditions with major suppliers, and various new administrative measures imposed 
by Chinese government on manufacturers operated in China. We also suffered an inventory loss due to sharp fall of nickel 
prices since June. Shrinking physical demand from Chinese factories brought us to reduce purchases from suppliers in the 
second half year of 2007.

Precious Metal Products

After ceasing operation of a precious-metal products’ supplier, sales performance in gold products grew slightly after gaining 
part of market re-allocated shares during the year. Demand in silver products however fell significantly partly because of 
stiff price competition and partly because of weak demand in silver-related plating industry. Demand from imitation jewelry 
manufacturers in China reduced significantly due to the high cost of precious metal prices. Overall physical precious metal 
demand tumbled among traditional electroplating factories located in China as they suffered from tougher requirement of 
import licenses issuance, stricter anti-pollution regulations, shortage in electricity and water supply, rising labor cost and credit 
tightening during the year. Impact on price competition due to slow sales, however, was moderately offset by abolishment of 
export tax rebate policy in China that reduced cheaper materials exported to Hong Kong and Southeast Asian markets.

Base Metal Products

Nickel profitability suffered severely due to high cost of nickel stocks-on-hand in the second half year of 2007. The effect of 
change of nickel supplier partner and the sharp fall of nickel from US$54,200 to the lowest of US$25,000 cost us a considerable 
inventory loss. Moreover, physical demand was weak in general since the second half year as end-customers were reluctant 
to replenish their purchase orders expecting for extended falls in later days. Our purchase has cut by more than 30% in the 
second half year to meet actual demand. Although copper sales quantities also dropped, copper business posted a satisfactory 
gain as we focused on margin rather than volume.

The reduction in purchases in the second half year due to slow demand lowered down overall inventory level at the year 
end. With effort of credit tightening among customers, account receivable cycle also reduced. In light of weak demand in 
electroplating industry, we are watchful of customers’ financial situation and carefully manage overall credit extension to 
customers.

Paint and Coating Chemicals

Sales turnover rose by 30.4% annually to HK$122.4 million in 2007. With high cost in oil price and weak US dollar, purchase 
costs in different kinds of paint and coating materials rose significantly in general. Overall Chinese local demand growth fell 
drastically facing with extensive cost-rising in all kinds of paint and coating materials. Also, manufacturers located in China 
were hard hit by tightening monetary policies by Chinese government and rising labor cost. With support from our suppliers, 
we could offer competitive packages to meet customers’ need. Change of market strategy by shifting price-sensitive local 
customers to quality-demanding customers in the past years also helped us to grow during the year. Selling price pressure 
has been moderated at the year end due to easing pressure on over-supply situation in China. It is expected demand market 
in China will continue to slow down in 2008 owing to raw material cost pressure and tightening measures on various Chinese 
governmental policies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Stainless Steel

In 2007, both sales turnover and profitability dropped mainly because of the steep decline in nickel price during the year. 
Customers substantially reduced their orders of stainless steel, expecting for extended falls in prices. Turnover fell by 12.5% 
annually. Competitors continued to dump their materials to release their inventory pressure close to the year end. As we were 
well position to hold relatively low inventory level of high-cost materials during the year, a small inventory loss was incurred 
at the year end. Following with substantial production cut by stainless steel mills at the end of 2007, market demand started 
to pick up in early of 2008. Also, demand from China factories is expected to improve in view of easing of nickel price and 
recovery of orders-placing after Chinese New Year. We will take great cautious in handling purchase orders and monitoring 
inventory level to avoid inventory cost discrepancy.

Property Investment Division

Total rental income rose by 2.1% to HK$17.35 million in 2007 when compared with HK$16.99 million in 2006.

Average occupancy rate for Hong Kong offices and Shanghai offices was 100% and 95.8% in 2007 respectively. Hong Kong 
office properties market price continued to move up during the year, mainly driven by limited prime office supply and strong 
rental demand in most business districts. Benefited from strong office demand market, our office rental price was able to lift 
up by 30-50% from a year ago to the market. Close to the year end, one long-term tenant who occupied about 32% of our total 
rentable office spaces in Shanghai had moved out. Renovation of the vacant spaces has completed and about 95% of the vacant 
spaces have been leased out before Chinese New Year. Demand in Shanghai prime office spaces remained robust with support 
of the banking and financial sectors as well as foreign professional services companies. Foreign investment including medium-
sized enterprises, individual investors and fund houses continued to flow into Shanghai office market. As at 31st December, 
2007, we credited HK$32.19 million on revaluation of Hong Kong and Shanghai offices properties.

Average occupancy rate of Shanghai residential properties in 2007 was at 93.7% while 93.3% was recorded in 2006. As at 31st 
December, 2007, occupancy rate was at 100%. Shanghai residential property market performed well in 2007. During the year, 
we sold 15 units of residential flats to the market with gain of HK$11.70 million. Selling price per sq.m. of the latest sold 
unit close to year end was 30% higher than that of the unit sold at the beginning of the year. Chinese government tightening 
measures of uplifting down-payment ratio for residential properties to 40% slowed down the transaction volume of secondary 
residential properties market near the year end. As at 31st December, 2007, we credited HK$28.95 million on revaluation of 
Shanghai residential properties.

Securities Investment Division

An analysis of the Group’s securities portfolio, current and non-current, by type of securities as at 31st December, 2007 is as 
below:

Market Value as at 31/12/2007 31/12/2006 Diff %

Investment held for trading (in HKD’000) 208,882 179,833 +16.2%
Foreign Exchange Yield Linked Deposit (in HKD’000) 8,657 0 n.a.
Available-for-sale Investments (in HKD’000) 15,487 14,258 +8.6%

Distribution of Securities in Investment held for trading (in HKD’000):

Equities – Hong Kong 31,819 34,406 –7.5%
Equities – Overseas 36,753 31,478 +16.8%
Mutual Funds – Quoted 140,310 113,949 +23.1%

The year 2007 was one of the most tumultuous years we have ever seen. Robust equity return, in particular of the U.S. shares, 
during the year was largely weighed down by global credit crunch since summer of 2007. Market volatility across various 
markets reached to the highest level. US economy has deteriorated severely due to restrictive financial and liquidity conditions 
combined with significant weakness in housing sector. European economies also undergo a slowing rate of growth and Japan 
suffers from a depressed economic environment. Despite the U.S. Federal Reserve’s recent easing of its policy perspective, 
credit crunch creates an alarming signal for global economic activity.

During the year, we benefited from a diversified investment strategy and better managed risk portfolio. Total gain arising 
from changes in fair value on investment held for trading recorded at HK$12.31 million including a realized gain of HK$1.34 
million. Dividend income was reported at HK$3.36 million in 2007. Interest income generated from the portfolio was reported 
at HK$3.36 million during the year when compared with HK$2.92 million for the year of 2006.
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EMPLOYEES
Total number of staff was increased by 2 persons to 85 persons at the year end of 2007. With higher employee turnover rate 
during the year, total staff cost slightly decreased by 1.3% in 2007 to HK$27.53 million when compared to HK$27.90 million 
in 2006. Employees’ salaries and other benefits have set at appropriate level to reflect market competitiveness in which the 
business environment that the Group is operating during the year.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
For the fiscal year ended 31st December, 2007, cash inflow from operation was recorded at HK$78.40 million (cash outflow 
from operation for the fiscal year of 2006: HK$119.65 million) mainly attributed by reduction in inventory and account 
receivable. Total actual dividend distribution in 2007 amounted to HK$44.55 million, lower than that of distribution of 
HK$62.37 million in 2006. Total equity attributable to shareholders as at 31st December, 2007 accounted at HK$664.81 million, 
representing an increase of 8.7% over that of HK$611.73 million as at 31st December, 2006.

Working capital as at 31st December, 2007 also rose to HK$336.16 million (as at 31.12.2006: HK$324.84 million). Due to weak 
demand in different industrial sectors and effort of shortening credit terms, total trade debtor turnover cycle has reduced to 
28.0 days during the year from 37.8 days for the year of 2006. Overall stock turnover cycle in 2007 also reduced to 30.3 days 
from 50.1 days in 2006 because of lower inventory level at the year end. Return on equity was reported at 14.3% for the year of 
2007, representing a rise from 12.7% that posted for the year of 2006.

The Group recorded cash balance of HK$136.47 million as at 31st December, 2007, representing a decrease of HK$ 34.7 million 
when compared with HK$ 171.17million as at 31st December, 2006. Net borrowing, however, fell to HK$425.99 million as at 
31st December, 2007 (as at 31.12.2006: HK$489.33 million). The decline in net borrowings was resulted of the fall in nickel 
prices at the year end and reducing overall purchases from overseas suppliers due to weak demand. Capital expenditure only 
amounted to HK$836,000 during the year.

An analysis of cash and short term bank deposits by currencies as at 31st December, 2007 and 31st December, 2006 are set out 
below:

2006

HK Dollar 
43.7%

US Dollar 
46.5%

SGD 0.4%

EURO 2.7%

RMB 6.2%

OTHER 0.4%

NTD 0.1%

2007

HK Dollar 
29.6%

US Dollar 
41.4%

OTHER 2.0%

EURO 3.6%

RMB 22.9%

SGD 0.1%
NTD 0.4%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

DEBT STRUCTURE
An analysis on bank borrowings by currencies as at 31st December, 2007 and 31st December, 2006 are set out below:

All borrowings were in form of Money Market bank loans and Trust Receipt during the year of 2007. Average lending tenor 
for Trust Receipt in financial trading facilities was about 60 days during the year, 4 days longer than 56 days for the fiscal year 
ended 31st December, 2006. Money-Market bank loans were either used to finance additional stocks held or securities assets 
purchased in the same foreign currencies. Average interest rate charged to trust receipt borrowings was 5.4% during the year 
when compared with 5.16% for the fiscal year ended 31st December, 2006. Average total bank borrowing interest rate charged 
at 5.33% during 2007 when compared with 5.04% for the fiscal year ended 31st December, 2006. Due to high volatility in metal 
prices during the year, total finance cost amounted to HK$26.34 million, representing a rise of 69.2% when compared with 
HK$15.57 million for the fiscal year of 2006.

As at 31st December, 2007, total banking facilities granted by lenders to the Group accounted to HK$874.1 million and the 
average banking utilization rate was at 54.8%. Debt to equities ratio fell to 0.64:1 as at 31st December, 2007 when compared 
with 0.80:1 as at the year ended 31st December, 2006.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
The Group monetary transactions were mainly conducted in Hong Kong Dollars, United Stated Dollars, Japanese Yen, Euro, 
Australian Dollars, Reminbi, Singapore Dollars and New Taiwanese Dollars. The Group normally used forward exchange 
contracts to hedge the return currency of such transaction or borrowed the same currency to fund such transaction. As at 31st 
December, 2007, no forward contract was outstanding. Short-term borrowings denominated in foreign currencies other than 
United States Dollars were used to finance assets purchased in the same currencies or official pegging currencies.

HK Dollar 
87.0%

US Dollar 6.2%

Japanese Yen 3.6%

S’pore Dollar 3.2%

HK Dollar 
86.4%

US Dollar 9.5%

Japanese Yen 1.4%

S’pore Dollar 2.7%

20062007
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1. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board of Kee Shing Group is committed to establish and maintain high standards of corporate governance – the 
process by which the Group is directed and managed, risks are identified and controlled and accountability assured.

This Corporate Governance Report is to outline the major principles of the Company’s governance. It intends to describe 
how the Group has applied the Code Provisions set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“the Code”) 
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“the Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (“The Stock Exchange”). It also highlights key changes and/or progress of the Company made 
to comply with the Code. Shareholders are encouraged to make their views known to the Group with concerns of the 
Company’s corporate governance issues and to directly raise any matters of concerns to the Chairman. The Chairman 
will be present in the Annual General Meeting to be held on 23rd May, 2008 to share views on matters of concerns.

During the accounting period ended 31st December, 2007, the Board considers that the Kee Shing Group has met and 
complied with the Code Provisions in the Code

2. DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
In accordance with the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (“the Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, the Kee Shing Group has adopted codes 
of conduct relating to securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard set 
out in the Model Code. For the accounting period ended 31st December, 2007, all Directors have confirmed that they 
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the Company’s codes of conduct regarding 
Directors’ securities transactions.

3. MAJOR GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
3.1 Board of Directors

Board Composition

Throughout the accounting period ended 31st December, 2007, the Board has 8 members. Of these, four, 
including Chairman, are executive directors and four are non-executive directors. The names and biographical 
details of each director are set out on page 17 of the annual report. The Board met five times during the 
financial year and the majority of the directors participated in each meeting. Attendance of each director at 
these meetings is shown in the table below:

 Attended in person Apologies given

Executive Directors:
Mr. Leung Shu Wing (Chairman) 5 –
Miss. Leung Miu King, Marina (Managing Director) 5 –
Mr. Wong Chi Kin 5 –
Mr. Wong Choi Ying (Company Secretary) 5 –

Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis 2 3
Mr. Wong Kong Chi (Independent) 5 –
Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert (Independent) 4 1
Mr. Chan Wing Lee (Independent) 5 –

Role and responsibilities

The Board is collectively responsible for the success and interest of the Group through leadership and 
supervisions. The principal tasks of the Board are:

• Provide entrepreneurial leadership of the Company with a framework of prudent and effective controls 
which enables risks to be assessed and managed.

• Set the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources are in 
place for the Company to meet its objectives and review management performance.

• Set the Company’s values and standards and ensure that its obligations to its shareholders and others 
are understood and met.

The Board approved a Schedules of Matters Reserved for the Board on 10th August 2005, which is set out the 
Board’s duties and activities and the matters reserved for its consideration and decision. The matters that the 
Board has specifically reserved for its decisions include establishment of the Group’s long term objectives and 
commercial strategy, approval and monitoring of budgets, changes of the Group’s corporate structure, capital 
and listing status, approval of financial statements and announcement of results, declaration of dividends, 
approval of material transactions, appointment and remuneration of board members and senior executives, 
and other matters more specifically described in the schedule.
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No event or condition of material uncertainties was found that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern during the year. The directors of the Board are responsible for the 
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the financial statements, in all material respects, in accordance 
with applicable regulatory requirements.

Skills, knowledge, experience and attributes of Directors

All of the directors of the Board served full year in office during 2007. Every director commits to give sufficient 
time and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors also demonstrate their understanding and commit 
to high standards of governance. Executive directors bring their perspectives to the Board through their deep 
understanding of the Group’s business. Non-executive directors contribute their own skill and experience, 
understanding of local and global economies, and knowledge of capital markets to the Group’s business. The 
Company is responsible for arranging and funding a suitable development programme for all directors of 
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Responsibilities between the Board and management

The Group has formed strong management teams in its business areas, comprising both executive directors and 
senior officers, to develop and exercise both operational and non-operational duties. The management team 
members have ranges of skills, knowledge and experiences necessary to govern the Group’s operation. All 
management team members are required to report directly to the Managing Director. They are also required to 
meet with the Chairman, Managing Directors and other Board’s executive directors on a regular basis to report 
business performances and operational and functional issues. This will allow the Group’s management to 
focus resources more efficiently in decision-making and facilitate daily operation. The names and biographical 
details of each senior officer are set out on page 18 of the annual report.

The Board and management fully appreciate their respective roles and are committed to good corporate 
governance. The Board is responsible for overseeing the processes by which the management identifies 
business opportunities and risks. The Board’s role is not to manage the business and the responsibility of 
which remains vested in management. The Board has set up a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved 
for the Board’s decision. Matters which the Board considers suitable for delegation are contained in the terms 
of reference of its Committee. In addition, the Board will receive reports and recommendations from time to 
time on any matter which it considers significant to the Group.

Induction and Training

Each new director, executive or non-executive, commits to undertake an induction programme to ensure that he 
has a proper understanding of his duties and responsibilities. The induction programme includes an overview 
of the Group’s business operation, the Board procedures, matter reserved to the Board, an introduction of the 
Board Committee, directors’ responsibilities and duties, relevant regulatory requirements, copies of minutes of 
the Board and Board Committees in the past 12 months, and briefings with senior management and site visits 
(if necessary). The need for director trainings is regularly assessed by the Board. In the fiscal year of 2007, no 
new Director was appointed.

Independent Advice

The Board and its Committees may seek advice from independent professional advice whenever it is 
considered appropriate. Individual director, with the consent of the Chairman of the Board and/or the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee, may seek independent professional advice on the matter connected with 
the Company to discharge of his/her responsibility, at the Group’s expense. No director exercised his/her right 
during the year.

Independence of non-executive director

Three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Kong Chi, Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, and 
Mr. Chan Wing Lee, are considered to be independent of management within the guidelines set out in Listing 
Rule 3.13. They are free from any business relationship or other circumstances that could materially interfere 
with the exercise of independent or objective judgment. Also, the three independent non-executive directors, 
representing over one-third of the Board, constitute a proper balance of power maintaining for full and 
effective control of both the Group and its executive management.

Relationships and Associations

Mr. Leung Shu Wing, the Chairman of the Board, is the father of Miss. Leung Miu King, Marina, who is the 
Managing Director of the Board. Other than these two individuals, there is no member of the Board involved 
into any financial, business, family or other material relationship with other members of the Board.
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Company Secretaries

The Company Secretary, Mr. Wong Choi Ying, who is also an executive director of the Board, is responsible to 
keep detailed minutes of each meeting including any dissenting views expressed by the directors. He is also 
responsible to ensure the Board procedures are complied with and advises the Board on governance matters. All 
agenda, relevant materials and document are sent out at least 3 days prior the intended date before the Board 
or the Committee meeting. The Company Secretary sent the draft version of the Board and Committee minutes 
to all directors for comments within reasonable time after the Board or the Committee and final versions of the 
Board and Committee minutes are also sent to all directors for record. Moreover, he is responsible for keeping 
all directors updated on Listing Rules, regulatory requirements, as well as internal codes of conduct of the 
Company.

3.2 Chairman and Managing Director

The Board approved the defined role of the Chairman and the Managing Director on 10th August, 2005, which 
has set out the roles of the Chairman and Managing Director are segregated and are not exercised by the same 
person.

The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Leung Shu Wing, leads the Board and facilitates the business of the Board 
and individual director effectiveness, both inside and outside the boardroom. The Chairman plays a key role 
in the development of the Group’s strategy and in ensuring management succession. He also ensures that 
the principles and processes of the Board are maintained. Throughout the year, he encourages constructive 
discussion, criticism or debate conducted in the Board and, where appropriate, any matters proposed by other 
directors for inclusion in the agenda. In conjunction with the Company Secretary, the Chairman sets agenda 
for meeting of the Board and ensures all directors receiving adequate, complete and reliable information in a 
timely manner. The Chairman commits to present shareholders’ views to the Board and to represent the Board 
to communicate with shareholders. He also facilitates the relationship among the Board members and ensures 
the effective contribution of the non-executive directors to the Board.

The Managing Director, Miss Leung Miu King, Marina, is responsible to lead executive management of the 
Group. The Board limits the delegated authorities to the Manager Director can execute and the Managing 
Director remains accountable to the Board within the limits of delegated authority. The Managing Director 
commits to take overall responsibilities for the supervision and the conducts of the Company business and its 
ordinary operation, in accordance with the policies, strategies and objectives established by the Group. The 
Board is responsible to monitor the performance of the Manager Director and to ensure whether the Board’s 
objective has been attained.

3.3 Appointment, Re-election and Removal

All four non-executive directors, including Messrs. Wong Kong Chi, Lai Chung Wing, Robert, Chan Wing 
Lee and Yuen Tin Fan, Francis, have entered into service agreements issued on 25th October, 2007 with the 
Company for a specific term of two years effective on 8th November, 2007.

There is no nomination committee set up in the Group. At least one third of directors of the Board, including 
those appointed for a specific term, retire at each Annual General Meeting pursuant to the Company’s existing 
Articles of Association. All executive director of the Company are not appointed for a fixed term but must 
submit themselves to shareholders for re-election after three years. Newly appointed Directors must submit 
themselves to shareholders for elections at the first Annual General Meeting following their appointment 
pursuant to the Company’s existing Articles of Association.

3.4 Remuneration of Directors and Senior Officers

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year. Its members are Mr. Wong Kong Chi, Mr. Lai Chung 
Wing, Robert, Mr. Chan Wing Lee and Mr. Wong Chi Kin. Except Mr. Wong Chi Kin, all three directors are 
independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong Kong Chi serves as the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. Attendance of each director at these meetings is shown in the table below:

 Attended in person Apologies given
Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Kong Chi (Independent) 1 –
Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert (Independent) 1 –
Mr. Chan Wing Lee (Independent) 1 –

Executive Directors:
Mr. Wong Chi Kin 1 –
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Role and function

The role of the Committee is to assist the Board to oversee the policy and structure of the remuneration to 
executive directors of the Company and senior officers of the Group, and to approve specific remuneration 
packages of all executive directors and senior officers. The duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration 
Committee are more specifically set out in its Terms of Reference, which is available for inspection at the 
Company’s website www.keeshing.com or by making request to the Company Secretary.

Principles of remuneration policy

The principles of the Group’s remuneration policy are:

– applied to all directors and senior officers for the year of 2007 and, so far as practicable, for subsequent 
years;

– sufficiently flexible to take account of future changes in the company’s business environment and 
remuneration practice;

– remuneration arrangement be designed to support the business strategy and to align with the interests 
of the Group’s shareholders;

– total reward levels be set at appropriate levels to reflect the competitive market in which the companies 
and the Group are operating during the year so as to position the best individual for outstanding 
performance;

– performance-related remuneration be making up at most 55% of the total potential remuneration for 
executive directors and senior officers;

– performance-related remuneration be subject to the satisfaction of performance over short and long 
term targets, and the targets be set in the context of the Group’s prospects, the prevailing economic 
environment in which it operates and the relative performance of comparable companies.

Remuneration Rules and Structure

Under the policy’s rules, the remuneration package of each executive director and senior officers is structured 
to include:
– an appropriate rate of base compensation for the job of each executive director and senior officers;
– competitive benefit programmes;
– sets of performance measures and targets for performance-related annual and long-term incentive plans 

based on the appropriate independent advice and/or an assessment of the interests of shareholders of 
the company and taking into account an appropriate balance of risk and reward for the directors and 
other participants.

The Committee is responsible to determine whether the preset targets are being met based on the relevant 
information. Annual review of the base compensation is required. Also it is required to a set of annual targets 
on different performance measures for each executive director and senior officer, approve the maximum level 
of total annual bonus over monthly salary as well as the shares of contributions against each performance 
measure if target is achieved.

The work and findings together with recommendation of the Committee was presented to the Board after the 
Remuneration Committee meeting. Minutes of the meeting were made available to all the directors’ inspection. 
No Director was involved in deciding his own remuneration, whether determined by the Remuneration 
Committee, or in the case of non-executive directors, by the Board.

3.5 Auditors’ Remuneration

The Board, on the recommendation of Audit Committee, approved the appointment of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu to perform its audit services to the Group for the fiscal year of 2007. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
has been the Group’s appointed external auditor since its public listing in 1989. A letter from Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu dated 17th March, 2008 has stated that it complies with the Professional Ethics Statement 1.203A 
“Independence for Assurance Engagements” and Professional Ethics Guidance 1.308 “Independence for 
Assurance Engagements” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant.

During the financial year of 2007, total fees paid to the Group’s appointed external Hong Kong auditors, 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, amounted to HK$2,384,120 of which comprised HK$672,649, or 28.2% of total fees, 
were fees for non-audit services, including taxation, interim review for the period ended 30th June, 2007, 
review of enterprise resources system and other consultancy services.
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3.6 Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of three independent non-executive directors namely Mr. Wong Kong Chi, Mr. 
Lai Chung Wing, and Mr. Chan Wing Lee. Mr. Wong Kong Chi served as the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
throughout the financial year. External auditors, executive directors and the Group Assistant Financial 
Controller were invited to attend all Audit Committee meetings. The Audit Committee met three times during 
the financial year. Attendance of each member at these meetings is shown in the table below:

 Attended in person Apologies given

Non-Executive Directors:  
Mr. Wong Kong Chi (Independent) 3 –
Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert (Independent) 3 -
Mr. Chan Wing Lee (Independent) 3 -

Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee are available for inspection at the Company’s website 
www.keeshing.com or by making request to the Company Secretary.

The Audit Committee is required, amongst other things, to oversee the relationship with external auditor, 
review the Company’s annual and interim financial statements, and evaluate the Group’s effectiveness of the 
system of internal controls and risk management.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in assuring the integrity of the financial statements. It evaluates and 
makes recommendations to the Board about the appropriateness of accounting policies and practices, area of 
judgment, compliance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and other legal requirements and the 
results of external audit. It reviews interim and yearly financial statements, reports its work and findings to the 
Board and makes recommendation on specific actions or decision the Board should consider after each Audit 
Committee meeting. Minutes of each meeting are kept by the Company Secretary and made available to all 
Directors.

The Audit Committee also manages the relationship with the External Auditor on behalf of the Board. 
It recommends to the Board external auditor for appointment and the terms of engagement, including 
remuneration. The Committee is required to review the integrity, independence and objectivity of the 
External Auditor. Also, it has examined the external auditor’s independence including its engagement of 
non-audit services. Based on the review of the Audit Committee, the Broad is satisfied that the External 
Auditor is independent. The External Auditor also expressed an opinion their reporting responsibilities in the 
“Independent Auditor’s Report” set out on page 23 of the annual report. .

The Audit Committee is required to ensure the system of internal control is in place for identifying and 
managing risk. The Committee has reviewed the effectiveness of internal controls for the financial year of 2007. 
The review covered financial, operational and compliance controls and risk assessment of the Group and its 
subsidiaries. The Board is satisfied that the effectiveness of the internal control has been properly reviewed by 
the Audit Committee.

3.7 Internal Controls

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure the Group maintains sound and effective internal controls to 
safeguard the shareholders’ interests and assets. Each year the Board reviews the effectiveness of the system 
of internal controls of the Group and to report the results to the shareholders. This annual review covers all 
material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

System of Internal Controls

Each year the Board reviews and considers the risk profile for the whole business. The Broad has delegated 
the oversight of risk management to the Audit Committee. Also the Broad requires the Managing Director to 
implement a system of control for identifying and managing risk. The Broad has constructed a framework for 
the assessment and management of risks to each division within the Group every year. When any deficiency of 
risk area or new risk arising was raised and presented, it is the Managing Director’s responsibility to report to 
the Board for assessment; together with submission of proper control strategy or follow-up action taken.

For the fiscal year of 2007, no internal audit department was set up in the Group and the Board believed no 
such need was required in the year ahead.

Price Sensitive Information

The Group has also adopted the securities dealing policy setting out the Company’s policy and rules governing 
the dealings in the securities of the Company by all employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and a 
confidentiality policy setting out the responsibilities of all employees of the Group in dealing with the Group’s 
information that is considered to be confidential.
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Business Risks

Scope of business that the Group is operating engaged a range of risk factors that may impact overall results. 
Material risks that could negatively affect the results and performance of the Group include:

• Fluctuation of Metal Prices
• Fluctuation of currency exchange rates
• Failure to recover credits extended to customers
• Failure to control inventory level
• Operating cost pressures
• Failure on documentation controls
• Over-reliance on key suppliers
• Impact on changes of taxation in the countries in which we operate
• Fluctuation of investment markets
• Fluctuation of property markets located in Shanghai and Hong Kong
• Breaches in information technology security
• Failure in computer network system
• Sudden reduction of credit facilities granted by financial institutions
• Fraud and Dishonesty
• Adverse governmental policies and political events in the countries in which we operate
• Breaches in governance

The management of the Group has put in place a number of policies, processes and procedures to provide 
assurance to the Board on the integrity of effectiveness of the system of internal control and risk management. 
During the financial year of 2007, each division of the Group has reported an assessment overview for the 
effectiveness of controls for their activities, including any new risk area has been arisen during the year. Audit 
Committee of the Group has reviewed twice the overall Group’s internal control system to monitor risks 
and controls of the Group. Two management committees also perform roles in relation of risk and control. 
Metal Committee reviews the internal controls to metal price risk and inventory risk of electroplating trading 
business. Investment Committee provides an oversight of securities investment environment. The Managing 
Director has formally presented the risk management of the Group and internal control structure to the Board 
at the end of 2007.

The directors of the Board confirmed it has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of internal control of the 
Group during the financial year of 2007 and considered the internal control systems are effective and adequate.

3.8 Communication with Shareholders

The Group strives to disclose relevant information on its activities to shareholders in an open and timely 
manner, subject to applicable legal requirements. Communication is achieved through:

– The Company’s annual and interim reports which have been enhanced to present a balanced, clear and 
comprehensive assessment of the Group position and prospects;

– Notices of annual and other general meetings and accompanying explanatory materials;
– Press releases on major development of the Group;
– Disclosures to Stock Exchange and relevant regulatory bodies;
– Response to inquiries from shareholders or media by the Company Secretary;
– Company’s website at www.keeshing.com making available, among other things, corporate 

announcements, press releases, annual reports, and general corporate information of the Group.

Constructive use of Annual General Meetings

The Board values the Annual General Meetings as the principal opportunity to meet shareholders. All 
executive directors and the chairman of the Audit Committee attended the Annual General Meeting held on 
25th May, 2007. Annual Report and Financial Statements and related papers are posted to shareholders for 
their consideration at least 35 days prior to the Annual General Meeting. Annual General Meeting proceedings 
are continually reviewed in the light of corporate governance best practices.

4. FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board believes that it presents a balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group position and 
prospects in all written communication with shareholders. The Board also fully appreciates its responsibilities 
regarding the preparation of financial statements. The management team provides explanation and information to the 
Board so as the Board is able to make informed assessment of the financial and other information presented before the 
Board for approval.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Leung Shu Wing, aged 69, is the founder of the Group and the Chairman of the company. Mr. Leung has over 43 years of 
experience in trading of electroplating materials and chemicals. He is currently responsible for the Group’s strategic planning.

Miss Leung Miu King, Marina, aged 38, the daughter of Mr. Leung Shu Wing, joined the Group in November, 1995. She holds 
a bachelor degree of business administration from the University of San Francisco. Miss Leung has over one year’s experience 
in trade finance with a bank in Hong Kong. She is the Managing Director of the Group.

Mr. Wong Chi Kin, Herbert, aged 57 joined the Group in 1984. He has over 34 years of experience in metal trading. Mr. Wong 
is the managing director of Kee Shing Hardware Supplies Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in trading of 
stainless steel.

Mr. Wong Choi Ying, Aaron, aged 55 joined the Group in 1988. He holds a bachelor degree of business administration from the 
Chinese University of Hong Kong, a fellow of the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants and an associate of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has over 28 years of experience in financial management. He worked 
for Tai Sang Land Development Limited for over five years before joining the Group. He is the Finance Director and Company 
Secretary of the Group. He is responsible for the Group’s financial planning and management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis, aged 55 is Chairman of Tien Fung Hong Group of companies. He is deputy Chairman of Singapore-
based Pacific Century Regional Development Limited. He is also an independent non-executive director of China Foods 
Limited and China Pacific Insurance (Group) Co., Ltd. From 1988 to 1991, he was the chief executive of The Stock Exchange of 
Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Yuen is also a member of Shanghai People’s Political Consultative Committee.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wong Kong Chi, aged 50, is a certified public accountant. Mr. Wong retired in 1993 after working in the merchant banking 
industry for over 10 years and since then has sat on the boards of several listed companies in Hong Kong as independent non-
executive directors.

Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, aged 60, is an independent non-Executive Director of Kingboard Copper Foils Holdings 
Limited, a publicly listed company on the Stock Exchange of Singapore. He holds a Bachelor-of-Laws (Honours) degree from 
the University of London and is currently involved in business consultancy work in the Asia-Pacific region. He has extensive 
experience in trading and investment. He was previously the managing director of Seaunion Holdings Ltd. (now known as 
South Sea Petroleum Holdings Ltd.), an oil and gas company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Chan Wing Lee, aged 69, has over 36 years of commercial banking experience. He has had extensive banking experience 
and numerous relationships with clients in a variety of industries. He also has had deep understanding of Hong Kong and 
China business environment settings. He was previously an executive director of DBS Kwong On Bank Limited (now known as 
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited).
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Mr. Chan Yuet Lung, Frankie, aged 53, joined the Group in 1988. He holds a degree in business administration from California 
State University, Long Beach. Prior to his joining the Group, he had worked for Cafe De Coral group of companies for 9 years. 
He has 30 years of experience in management sales and marketing. Mr. Chan is the Director and General Manager of Kee Shing 
Industrial Products Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in trading of electroplating chemicals and metals.

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Rico, aged 49, joined the Group in 1987. He has over 27 years of experience in China trade. Mr. Wong is 
the Director and General Manager of Sam Wing International Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in trading 
paints and coating chemicals.

Madam Kwai Ah Ning, Annie, aged 58, joined the Group in 1996. Madam Kwai holds a bachelor degree in Business 
Economics from Shanghai Administrative Institute. Prior to joining the Group, she had over 25 years of experience working in 
electronic technology, administrative management and international trading business. She is the General Manager of Kee Shing 
Property Consultants (Shanghai) Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in managing investment 
properties in Shanghai.

Mr. Kee Wei Lee, aged 35, joined the Group in July 2004. He holds a Bachelor of Arts and Master of Engineering (Chemical 
Engineering) from the University of Cambridge. Prior to joining the Group, he worked in ExxonMobil Chemical for six years, 
with experience in technical, planning and management roles. Mr. Kee is a Director and chemical division manager of KSIP 
(Singapore) Pte Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in trading electroplating chemicals and metals.

Mr. Leung Chi Lam, Stanley, aged 43, joined the Group in 1990. He holds a bachelor degree of chemistry from the Chinese 
University of Hong Kong. He has over 20 years of experience in electroplating industry. He is the General Manager of Engotech 
Limited, a subsidiary of the Group which is engaged in trading electroplating chemicals and solutions.
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31st December, 2007.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2007 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 24.

An interim dividend of 4 cents per share, amounting to HK$17,820,000, was paid to the shareholders of the Company during 
the year. The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of 6 cents per share to the shareholders of the 
Company whose names appear on the register of members on 23rd May, 2008, amounting to HK$26,730,000.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
All of the investment properties of the Group were revalued at 31st December, 2007, as set out in note 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The net increase in fair value of investment properties, which has been credited directly to profit or loss, 
amounted to HK$73,304,000.

Particulars of the investment properties of the Group as at 31st December, 2007 are set out on page 64.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31st December, 2007, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders comprised the retained profits of 
HK$181,920,000 (2006: HK$214,094,000).

Details of the Company’s distributable reserves are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Leung Shu Wing – Chairman
Leung Miu King
Wong Chi Kin
Wong Choi Ying

Non-executive director:

Yuen Tin Fan, Francis

Independent non-executive directors:

Wong Kong Chi
Lai Chung Wing, Robert
Chan Wing Lee

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Messrs. Leung Shu Wing, Wong Chi Kin and Yuen Tin 
Fan, Francis retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The non-executive director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the 
Company with a term of two years.

All the executive directors, including those proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting, have service 
contracts with the Company with no fixed term of year.

All of the independent non-executive directors have service contracts with a term of two years.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the 
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES
At 31st December, 2007, the interests of the directors and their associates in the shares of the Company and its associated 
corporations, as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures 
Ordinance (“SFO”), or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by the Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”), 
were as follows:

Long positions

(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the Company

    Percentage of
  Number of  the issued
  issued ordinary  share capital
Name of director Capacity shares held  of the Company

Leung Shu Wing Beneficial owner 184,691,075 (L) 41.457%

Yuen Tin Fan, Francis Held by controlled corporation (Note 1) 26,984,000 (L) 6.057%
 Founder of discretionary trust (Note 2) 74,770,000 (L) 16.783%
    

  101,754,000  22.840%
    

Leung Miu King Beneficial owner 21,050,000 (L) 4.725%

Wong Chi Kin Beneficial owner 767,000 (L) 0.172%

Wong Choi Ying Beneficial owner 9,500 (L) 0.002%
    

  308,271,575  69.196%
    

Notes:

1. 26,984,000 shares in the Company are owned by Tien Fung Hong Group Limited, a company which is 60% 
owned by Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis.

2. 74,770,000 shares in the Company are owned by TF Yuen Trust. Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis is the founder who 
has set up the TF Yuen Trust.

The letter “L” denotes a long position in shares.

(b) Non-voting preferred shares in the Company’s subsidiaries

     Percentage of
     the non-voting
     preferred
   Number of non-  share capital
   voting  of the Company’s
Name of subsidiary Name of director Capacity preferred shares  subsidiaries

Kee Shing Hardware Wong Chi Kin Beneficial owner 400,000 (L) 100%
 Supplies Limited

Kee Shing Industrial Leung Shu Wing Beneficial owner 7,000 (L) 70%
 Products Limited

Sam Wing International Limited Leung Shu Wing Beneficial owner 19,440 (L) 90%

The letter “L” denotes a long position in shares.
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Save as disclosed herein, at 31st December, 2007, none of the directors or chief executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of 
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 
7 & 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 
referred to therein or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of 
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate. In addition, none of the directors, or their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any right to subscribe for the 
securities of the Company or had exercised any such right during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(a) Interests in the Company

As at 31st December, 2007, so far as is known to any directors or chief executive of the Company, other than the 
interests and short positions of the directors or chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, the following 
persons had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

    Approx.

    percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest No. of Shares   shareholding

Tien Fung Hong Group Limited Beneficial owner (Note) 26,984,000 (L) 6.057%

DBMG Trust Company Limited Trustee of a discretionary trust 74,770,000 (L) 16.783%

Note: Mr. Yuen Tin Fan, Francis, a director of the Company, is also a director of and holds 60% equity interest in Tien Fung 

Hong Group Limited.

The letter “L” denotes a long position in shares.

(b) Interests in other members of the Group

As at 31st December, 2007, so far as is known to any director or chief executive of the Company, the following person 
(other than the Company, a director or the chief executive of the Company) was directly or indirectly interested in 
10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general 
meetings of other members of the Group:

  Approx. percentage of

  registered/issued

Name of shareholder Name of member of the Group capital of the company

Mr. Chan Chung Wan Ever Channel Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Global Trade Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Gold Asset Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Kingsview Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Pacific Wide Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Top Image Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Topbase Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Union Channel Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Union Crown Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Chan Chung Wan Winbase Properties Limited 10%
Mr. Zen Wea Foo Klendo Limited 10%
Mr. Herman Santoso KSIP (Singapore) Pte. Limited 41%
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Directors’ Report

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31st December, 2007, so far as is known to any directors or chief executive of the 
Company, no other person (other than a director or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short 
position in Ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) and underlying shares of the Company which would fall 
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was directly 
or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all 
circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group or had any options in respect of such capital.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31st December, 2007, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers was less than 
30% of the Group’s total turnover. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 88% 
of the Group’s total purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier was 43% of the total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the 
Company’s share capital) has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SHARES
There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed shares by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during 
the year.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-executive directors are 
independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their 
merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the 
Company’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31st December, 2007.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint the auditors, Messrs. 
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

On behalf of the Board

LEUNG SHU WING

Chairman

10th April, 2008
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香港金鐘道88號
太古廣場一座35樓

35/F One Pacific Place
88 Queensway
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KEE SHING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

奇盛（集團）有限公司
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kee Shing (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 24 to 63 which comprise the consolidated and the Company’s balance 
sheets as at 31st December, 2007, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our 
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor ’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of 
the Group as at 31st December, 2007 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
10th April, 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31st December, 2007

  2007 2006
 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover 4 2,771,092 2,240,998
Other income 5 6,790 9,175
Changes in inventories of finished goods  (68,135) 144,405
Purchases of goods held for resale  (2,551,266) (2,198,165)
Raw materials and consumables used  (48,760) (56,580)
Staff costs  (27,529) (27,902)
Depreciation  (2,639) (2,665)
Other expenses  (27,035) (29,813)
Gain arising from changes in fair value of investments
 held for trading  11,467 14,135
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments  – 585
Gain arising from change in fair value of foreign
 exchange yield linked deposit  847 –
Gain arising from changes in fair value of
 investment properties  73,304 3,517
Finance costs 6 (26,337) (15,574)
Share of loss of an associate  – (5,215)
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate 7 – 13,198
   

Profit before taxation  111,799 90,099
Income tax expense 8 (9,953) (9,923)
   

Profit for the year 9 101,846 80,176
   

Attributable to:
 Equity holders of the Company  94,974 77,637
 Minority interests  6,872 2,539
   

  101,846 80,176
   

Dividends 12 44,550 62,370
   

Earnings per share - basic 13 HK21.32 cents HK17.43 cents
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At 31st December, 2007

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2007 2006 2007 2006
 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current Assets

Investment properties 14 320,406 273,275 – –
Property, plant and equipment 15 28,890 30,300 415 1,155
Investments in subsidiaries 16 – – 64,811 59,008
Interest in an associate 17 453 453 – –
Available-for-sale investments 18 15,487 14,258 – –
Foreign exchange yield linked deposit 19 8,657 – – –
Amounts due from subsidiaries 20 – – 364,077 351,865
     

  373,893 318,286 429,303 412,028
     

Current Assets

Inventories 21 221,734 289,861 – –
Debtors, deposits and prepayments 22 228,035 246,866 388 615
Bills receivable 24 24,914 24,270 – –
Investments held for trading 23 208,882 179,833 – –
Taxation recoverable  4,837 302 – –
Short term bank deposits 24 28,645 86,857 – –
Bank balances and cash 24 107,824 84,313 147 37,502
     

  824,871 912,302 535 38,117
     

Current Liabilities

Creditors and accrued charges 25 50,857 84,077 4,678 9,915
Amounts due to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries 26 9,588 10,408 – –
Taxation payable  2,280 3,652 – –
Bank borrowings 27 425,989 489,328 25,000 25,000
Amounts due to subsidiaries 28 – – 42,237 25,133
     

  488,714 587,465 71,915 60,048
     

Net Current Assets (Liabilities)  336,157 324,837 (71,380) (21,931)
     

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities  710,050 643,123 357,923 390,097
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Balance Sheets
At 31st December, 2007

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY

  2007 2006 2007 2006
 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and Reserves

Share capital 29 22,275 22,275 22,275 22,275
Reserves 30 642,534 589,459 335,648 367,822
     

Equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company  664,809 611,734 357,923 390,097

Minority Interests  30,055 22,731 – –
     

Total Equity  694,864 634,465 357,923 390,097

Non-current Liability

Deferred tax liabilities 31 15,186 8,658 – –
     

  710,050 643,123 357,923 390,097
     

The financial statements on pages 24 to 63 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 10th April, 
2008 and are signed on its behalf by:

 Leung Shu Wing Wong Choi Ying

 DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2007

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

   Property Investment

 Share Share revaluation revaluation Translation Retained  Minority Total

 capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January, 2006 22,275 153,728 18,226 (2,426) 1,571 400,025 593,399 21,733 615,132
Gain on structured bank deposits – – – 1,084 – – 1,084 – 1,084
Exchange differences arising on
 translation of overseas operations – – – – 1,310 – 1,310 878 2,188
Share of an associate’s movement
 in reserve – – – – (808) – (808) – (808)
Surplus on revaluation upon
 transfer from property, plant and
 equipment to investment properties – – 788 – – – 788 757 1,545
Deferred tax on surplus on
 revaluation upon transfer from
 property, plant and equipment to
 investment properties – – (174) – – – (174) (166) (340)
         

Net income recognised directly
 in equity – – 614 1,084 502 – 2,200 1,469 3,669
Profit for the year – – – – – 77,637 77,637 2,539 80,176
Released from disposal of an
 associate – – – – 868 – 868 – 868
         

Total recognised income
 for the year – – 614 1,084 1,370 77,637 80,705 4,008 84,713
Distribution from winding up of
 a subsidiary – – – – – – – (2,736) (2,736)
Dividends paid – – – – – (62,370) (62,370) (274) (62,644)
         

At 31st December, 2006 22,275 153,728 18,840 (1,342) 2,941 415,292 611,734 22,731 634,465
         

Gain on structured bank deposits – – – 1,229 – – 1,229 – 1,229
Exchange differences arising on
 translation of overseas operations – – – – 1,422 – 1,422 778 2,200
         

Total income recognised directly
 in equity – – – 1,229 1,422 – 2,651 778 3,429
Profit for the year – – – – – 94,974 94,974 6,872 101,846
         

Total recognised income
 for the year – – – 1,229 1,422 94,974 97,625 7,650 105,275
Dividend paid – – – – – (44,550) (44,550) (326) (44,876)
         

At 31st December, 2007 22,275 153,728 18,840 (113) 4,363 465,716 664,809 30,055 694,864
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31st December, 2007

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation 111,799 90,099
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 2,639 2,665
Gain arising from changes in fair value of investments held for trading (11,467) (14,135)
Gain arising from changes in fair value of foreign exchange yield
 linked deposit (847) –
Gain on disposal of available-for-sales investments – (585)
Impairment loss on trade debtors 873 3,923
Reversal of impairment loss on trade debtors (1,110) (1,415)
Gain arising from changes in fair value of investment properties (73,304) (3,517)
Finance costs 26,337 15,574
Share of loss of an associate – 5,215
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate – (13,198)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (45) (178)
Interest income from bank deposits (3,910) (2,883)
Interest income from structured bank deposits (130) (728)
  

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 50,835 80,837
Decrease (increase) in inventories 68,768 (144,184)
Decrease (increase) in debtors, deposits and prepayments 20,374 (88,443)
Increase in bills receivable (644) (13,305)
(Increase) decrease in investments held for trading (17,422) 10,085
(Decrease) increase in creditors and accrued charges (34,121) 45,209
  

Cash generated from (used in) operations 87,790 (109,801)
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (7,976) (7,984)
Profits tax outside Hong Kong paid (1,413) (1,864)
  

NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 78,401 (119,649)
  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of foreign exchange yield linked deposit (7,810) –
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (836) (539)
Interest received from bank deposits 3,910 2,883
Interest received from structured bank deposits 130 728
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 26,416 –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 71 305
Proceeds from disposal of an associate – 35,266
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments – 16,710
  

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 21,881 55,353
  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank borrowings raised – 216,400
Repayment of bank borrowings, net (63,792) –
Dividends paid (44,550) (62,370)
Interest paid (26,337) (15,574)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries (326) (274)
Distributions to minority shareholders of subsidiaries – (2,736)
Amounts repaid to minority shareholders of subsidiaries (820) (898)
  

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (135,825) 134,548
  

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (35,543) 70,252

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 171,170 100,144

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES 842 774
  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 136,469 171,170
  

ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Short term bank deposits 28,645 86,857
Bank balances and cash 107,824 84,313
  

 136,469 171,170
  



Notes to the Financial Statements

29Annual Report 2007 • KEE SHING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

For the year ended 31st December, 2007

1. GENERAL
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are 
disclosed in the section of Corporate Information of the annual report.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the same as the functional currency of the 
Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS
In the current year, the Group and the Company, has applied, for the first time, a number of new and revised 
standards, amendment and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Accountants (the 
“HKICPA”), which are effective for the current year beginning from 1st January, 2007. The adoption of the new 
HKFRSs has results in the following areas:

• The impact of application of HKFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” has been to expand the disclosures 
provided in the consolidated financial statements regarding the financial instruments.

• The impact of application of HKAS 1 (Amendment) “Capital Disclosures” has been to disclose information 
regarding its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital.

The application of the remaining new HKFRSs has had no material effect on how the results and financial position for 
the current or prior accounting periods are prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been 
required.

The Group and the Company has not early adopted the following new and revised standards or interpretations that 
have been issued but are not yet effective. The directors of the Company are in the process of assessing the potential 
impact and so far considered that the application of these standards or interpretations will have no material impact on 
the results and the financial position of the Group and the Company.

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements1

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs1

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements2

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and Cancellations1

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations2

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments1

HK(IFRIC) – Int 11 HKFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions3

HK(IFRIC) – INT 12 Service Concession Arrangements4

HK(IFRIC) – Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes5

HK(IFRIC) – Int 14 HKAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 
  Requirements and their Interaction4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2009.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2009.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st March, 2007.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2008.
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2008.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st December, 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial 
instruments, which are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out 
below.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued 
by the HKICPA. In addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 
special purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement 
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

All significant inter-company transactions and balances within the Group have been eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity 
therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business 
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the 
minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group 
except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover 
the losses.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 
goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods are delivered and title has passed.

Rental income, including rentals invoiced in advance from properties let under operating leases, is recognised on a 
straight line basis over the terms of the relevant leases.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss for the period in which they 
arise.

An item of investment properties is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income statement 
in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or fair value less accumulated subsequent depreciation, amortisation 
and any identified impairment loss.

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued at 31st December, 1991. The surplus arising on 
revaluation of land and buildings was credited to the property revaluation reserve. Advantage has been taken of the 
transitional relief provided by paragraph 80A of HKAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” from the requirement to 
make regular revaluations of the Group’s land and buildings which had been carried at revalued amounts prior to 30th 
September, 1995, and accordingly no further revaluation of land and buildings is carried out. Prior to 30th September, 
1995, the revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of these assets was credited to the revaluation reserve. Any 
future decreases in value of these assets will be dealt with as an expense to the extent that they exceed the balance, 
if any, on the revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of the same asset. On the subsequent sale or 
retirement of a revalued asset, the corresponding revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits directly.

Depreciation are provided to write off the cost or fair value of items of property, plant and equipment over their 
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the straight line method, at 
the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings 2% to 2.5% or over the remaining term of
  the lease, whichever is the shorter
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 16% to 20%
Motor vehicles 16% to 25%
Plant and machinery 20%
Computer equipment 20% to 331/3%

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated 
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income 
statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred to investment property carried at fair value, if the 
carrying amount is increased, the surplus is credited directly to equity (property revaluation reserve). On subsequent 
disposal of the investment property, the revaluation surplus included in equity may be transferred to retained profits 
directly.

Subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s balance sheet at cost, less any identified impairment loss.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an 
investment in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance 
sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any 
identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in that 
associate, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share of losses is provided for 
and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31st December, 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out 
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated 
costs necessary to make the sale.

Impairment of tangible assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there 
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated 
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment 
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment loss is treated as revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, such that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
reversal of impairment loss is treated as revaluation increase.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. 
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities 
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from 
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three categories, including financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases 
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories, including financial assets held for trading and those designated at 
FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent 

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2007

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

A financial asset other than a financial asset held of trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed 
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk 
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; 
or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire 
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, 
with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including debtors, 
bills receivable, amounts due from subsidiaries, and bank balances and deposits) are carried at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on 
financial assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated or not classified as financial assets at 
FVTPL, held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair 
value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is removed from equity and 
recognised in profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been 
impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

• significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
• default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
• it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade debtors, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 
are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of 
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed 
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period, observable changes in national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of trade debtors and amounts due from subsidiaries, where the carrying amount is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or 
loss. When a trade debtor or amount due from a subsidiary is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measures at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment losses were recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognisd.

For available-for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair value of 
the investment can be objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified according to the substance of the 
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of 
its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are other financial liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including creditors and accrued charges, amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries, 
amounts due to subsidiaries and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse 
the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee (being the transaction price, unless the 
fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially recognised as deferred income within creditors and accrued 
charges. Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised 
in accordance with the Group’s policies applicable to the relevant asset. Where no such consideration is received or 
receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss over the term of the 
guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions are recognised if and when (i) it becomes 
probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that 
claim on the Group is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in creditors and accrued charges in respect of 
that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets 
are transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in equity is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or 
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid 
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the profit as reported in the 
consolidated income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 
years, and it further excludes income statement items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, 
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the 
asset is realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or 
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the consolidated income statement on a straight line basis over 
the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight line basis.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered separately for the purpose of lease 
classification. Leasehold land which title is not expected to pass to the lessee by the end of the lease term is classified 
as an operating lease unless the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, 
in which case, the entire lease is classified as a finance lease.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognized in profit and loss in the year in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective currency (i.e. the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Company (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of 
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate 
component of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to the Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and other defined contribution retirement schemes are 
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS
Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently organised into the following divisions:

Sales of chemicals and metals – trading of electroplating materials, paint and coating chemicals and
   stainless steels.

Property investment – rental income from leasing of office and residential properties

Securities investment – investing in various securities and generating interest and dividend income

These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information.
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued)

Segment information about these businesses is presented below:

For the year ended 31st December, 2007

 Sales of

 chemicals Property Securities Other

 and metals investment investment activities Eliminations Consolidated

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover

External sales 2,748,291 17,349 4,444 1,008 – 2,771,092
Inter-segment sales – 1,343 – – (1,343) –
      

Total turnover 2,748,291 18,692 4,444 1,008 (1,343) 2,771,092
      

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Results

Segment result 44,895 85,462 15,506 87 – 145,950
     

Interest income from
 bank deposits and
 structured bank deposits      4,040
Unallocated other income      2,750
Unallocated corporate expenses      (14,604)
Finance costs      (26,337)
      

Profit before taxation      111,799
Income tax expense      (9,953)
      

Profit for the year      101,846
      

At 31st December, 2007

 Sales of

 chemicals Property Securities Other

 and metals investment investment activities Consolidated

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Segment assets 479,961 342,483 233,175 106 1,055,725
Interests in an associate 453 – – – 453
Unallocated corporate assets     142,586
     

Consolidated total assets     1,198,764
     

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 39,373 7,485 364 11 47,233
Unallocated corporate liabilities     456,667
     

Consolidated total liabilities     503,900
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued)

Other information

 Sales of
 chemicals Property Securities Other
 and metals investment investment activities Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure 480 306 – 50 836
Depreciation 930 919 – 790 2,639
Gain arising from changes in the
 fair value of investment properties – 73,304 – – 73,304
Gain arising from changes in fair
 value of investments held for trading – – 11,467 – 11,467
Gain arising from changes in fair
 value of foreign exchange yield
 linked deposit – – 847 – 847
Gain on disposal of property, plant
 and equipment – 45 – – 45
Reversal of impairment loss on
 trade debtors, net 237 – – – 237

For the year ended 31st December, 2006

 Sales of
 chemicals Property Securities Other
 and metals investment investment activities Eliminations Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Turnover
External sales 2,219,620 16,985 2,976 1,417 – 2,240,998
Inter-segment sales – 1,299 – – (1,299) –
      

Total turnover 2,219,620 18,284 2,976 1,417 (1,299) 2,240,998
      

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.

Results
Segment result 71,657 17,190 17,203 125 – 106,175
     

Interest income from
 bank deposits and
 structured bank deposits      3,611
Unallocated other
 income      3,578
Unallocated corporate
 expenses      (15,674)
Finance costs      (15,574)
Share of loss of an
 associate – – – (5,215) – (5,215)
Gain on disposal of
 interest in an associate – – – 13,198 – 13,198
      

Profit before taxation      90,099
Income tax expense      (9,923)
      

Profit for the year      80,176
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued)

At 31st December, 2006

 Sales of
 chemicals Property Securities Other
 and metals investment investment activities Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets

Segment assets 567,621 294,517 194,244 171 1,056,553
Interests in an associate 453 – – – 453
Unallocated corporate assets     173,582
     

Consolidated total assets     1,230,588
     

Liabilities

Segment liabilities 72,516 6,620 209 29 79,374
Unallocated corporate liabilities     516,749
     

Consolidated total liabilities     596,123
     

Other information

 Sales of
 chemicals Property Securities Other
 and metals investment investment activities Consolidated
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure 469 20 – 50 539
Depreciation 897 963 – 805 2,665
Gain arising from changes in fair
 value of investment properties – 3,517 – – 3,517
Gain arising from changes in fair
 value of investments held for trading – – 14,135 – 14,135
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale
 investments – – 585 – 585
Gain on disposal of property, plant
 and equipment 178 – – – 178
Impairment loss on trade debtors, net 2,508 – – – 2,508
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4. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS (continued)
Geographical segments

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, Taiwan, elsewhere in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and 
Singapore.

The Group’s sales of chemicals and metals are carried out in Hong Kong, Taiwan, elsewhere in the PRC and Singapore. 
Property investment is carried out in Hong Kong, elsewhere in the PRC and Singapore. Securities investment is carried 
out in Hong Kong and Singapore.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s sales by locations of customers:

Revenue by

geographical market
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 2,071,545 1,646,701
Taiwan 382,160 334,035
Elsewhere in the PRC 138,986 110,140
Others 178,401 150,122
  

 2,771,092 2,240,998
  

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets, and additions to property, plant and equipment, 
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

 Carrying amount of Additions to property,

 segment assets plant and equipment
   

 At At Year ended Year ended
 31.12.2007 31.12.2006 31.12.2007 31.12.2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 431,755 514,046 158 518
Taiwan 65,740 81,143 316 –
Elsewhere in the PRC 313,748 270,955 – 21
Others 244,482 190,409 362 –
    

 1,055,725 1,056,553 836 539
    

5. OTHER INCOME
Included in other income is interest income from bank deposits and structured bank deposits of HK$3,910,000 and 
HK$130,000 (2006: HK$2,883,000 and HK$728,000) respectively.

6. FINANCE COSTS
The finance costs represent interest on bank borrowings wholly repayable within five years.

7. GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
On 25th October 2006, Pacific Apex International Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of 
its entire 16.48% of the issued share capital in Asia Commercial Holdings Limited, an associate of the Company, to 
an independent third party, for a cash consideration of HK$37,400,000. The gain on such disposal is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st December, 2006.

Details of the disposal are set out in the circular of the Company dated 16th November, 2006.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

The tax charge attributable to the Group comprises:

Current taxation
 Hong Kong Profits Tax 995 7,989
 Profits Tax outside Hong Kong 2,853 2,189
  

 3,848 10,178
  

Overprovision in prior years
 Hong Kong Profits Tax (42) (261)
 Profits Tax outside Hong Kong (381) (639)
  

 (423) (900)
  

 3,425 9,278
Deferred taxation (Note 31) 6,528 645
  

 9,953 9,923
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 17.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Taxation outside Hong Kong is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the 
“New Law”) by Order No. 63 of the President of the People’s Republic of China. On 6 December 2007, the State Council 
of the PRC issued implementation Regulations of the New Law. However, the New Law and the Implementation 
Regulations will have no material impact on the Group as its major operations are only subject to tax rate of 10% either 
based on existing tax laws or the New Law and the Implementation Regulations.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 31.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation per the consolidated income statement as 
follows:

  Elsewhere
 Hong Kong in the PRC Other countries Total
       

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 17,491 68,179 82,176 15,328 12,132 6,592 111,799 90,099
        

Application tax rate 17.5% 17.5% 10% 10% 21.5% 21.5%
      

Tax at the applicable income tax rate 3,061 11,931 8,218 1,533 2,608 1,417 13,887 14,881
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
 for tax purpose 1,104 890 629 458 75 499 1,808 1,847
Tax effect of income not taxable
 for tax purpose (2,925) (4,990) (851) (361) (1,826) (1,025) (5,602) (6,376)
Tax effect of utilisation of previous
 tax losses not recognised (936) (950) – – – – (936) (950)
Tax effect of unrecognised tax loss 1,452 589 – – – – 1,452 589
Tax effect of share of results of
 associates – 913 – – – – – 913
Tax effect on different tax rate
 of operations in other jurisdiction – – – – (365) (242) (365) (242)
Overprovision in prior years (42) (261) (289) (639) (92) – (423) (900)
Others 3 56 129 105 – – 132 161
        

Tax charge for the year 1,717 8,178 7,836 1,096 400 649 9,953 9,923
        

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Auditors’ remuneration
 – current year 1,804 1,421
 – underprovision in the prior year 116 –
  

 1,920 1,421
  

Impairment loss on trade debtors 873 3,923
Net foreign exchange loss 110 1,202
Rental payments in respect of properties under operating leases 2,502 3,692
Retirement benefits scheme contributions
 (excluding amounts paid under directors’ emoluments) 632 587
Share of tax of associates (included in share of results of associates) – 382

and after crediting:

Dividend income from listed investments 3,360 2,513
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 45 178
Reversal of impairment loss on trade debtors 1,110 1,415

Gross rental income from investment properties 17,349 16,985
Less: direct operating expenses from investment properties 
    that generated rental income during the year (5,191) (3,312)
  

 12,158 13,673
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10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 8 (2006: 8) directors were as follows:

     Yuen  Lai Chung
 Leung Leung Wong Wong Tin Fan, Wong  Wing, Chan Total
 Shu Wing Miu King Chi Kin Choi Ying Francis Kong Chi Robert Wing Lee 2007
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees – – – – 300 150 300 300 1,050
Other emoluments
 Salaries and other benefits 822 865 516 905 – 150 – – 3,258
 Contributions to retirement
  benefits schemes – 12 12 12 – – – – 36
 Performance related incentive
  payments (Note) 686 656 139 180 – – – – 1,661
         

Total emoluments 1,508 1,533 667 1,097 300 300 300 300 6,005
         

     Yuen  Lai Chung
 Leung Leung Wong Wong Tin Fan, Wong  Wing, Chan Total
 Shu Wing Miu King Chi Kin Choi Ying Francis Kong Chi Robert Wing Lee 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees – – – – 300 150 300 300 1,050
Other emoluments
 Salaries and other benefits 803 828 487 868 – 150 – – 3,136
 Contributions to retirement
  benefits schemes – 12 12 12 – – – – 36
 Performance related incentive
  payments (Note) 635 715 152 155 – – – – 1,657
         

Total emoluments 1,438 1,555 651 1,035 300 300 300 300 5,879
         

Note: The performance related incentive payment is determined based on the Group’s performance for each of the two years 
ended 31st December, 2007.

No directors waived any emoluments for the year ended 31st December, 2006 and 2007.

11. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three directors (2006: two director), details of whose 
emoluments are included in the amounts disclosed in note 10 above. The emoluments of the remaining highest paid 
employees, other than directors of the Company, are as follows:

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 2,060 2,677
Performance related incentive payments 214 725
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 24 36
  

 2,298 3,438
  

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

 

 2007 2006
 Number of Number of
 employees employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 3
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12. DIVIDENDS
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Dividend recognised as distributions during the year:

Interim dividend paid in respect of 2007 of 4 cents
 (2006: 4 cents) per ordinary share 17,820 17,820
Final dividend paid in respect of 2006 of 6 cents
 (2005: 10 cents) per ordinary share 26,730 44,550
  

 44,550 62,370
  

The final dividend of 6 cents for the year ended 31st December, 2007 per share has been proposed by the directors and 
is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company is based on the profit for 
the year of HK$94,974,000 (2006: HK$77,637,000) and on 445,500,000 ordinary shares (2006: 445,500,000 ordinary shares) 
in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share have been presented as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue in either 
2007 or 2006.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
 THE GROUP
 HK$’000

VALUATION
At 1st January, 2006 266,561
Transfer from property, plant and equipment 3,197
Increase in fair value 3,517
 

At 31st December, 2006 273,275
Exchange realignment 243
Increase in fair value 73,304
Disposal (26,416)
 

At 31st December, 2007 320,406
 

The Group’s investment properties comprise:

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties held under medium-term leases:
 – in Hong Kong 18,250 13,930
 – elsewhere in the PRC 236,800 208,930
  

 255,050 222,860
Properties held under long leases:
 – elsewhere in the PRC 61,400 47,117
 – overseas 3,956 3,298
  

 320,406 273,275
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
The fair value of the Group’s investment properties located in Hong Kong, elsewhere in the PRC and Singapore as at 
31st December, 2007 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by Knight Frank Petty 
Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group. The valuation report on these 
properties was signed by a director of Knight Frank Petty Limited who is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of 
Surveyors, and has appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the 
relevant locations. The valuation was arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar 
properties.

The revaluation of investment properties during the current year gave rise to a net gain arising from changes in fair 
value of HK$73,304,000 (2006: HK$3,517,000) which has been recognised in the consolidated income statement.

All the investment properties of the Group are rented out under operating leases.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes 
are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 Leasehold Furniture,

 land and fixtures and Motor Plant and Computer

 buildings equipment vehicles machinery equipment Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP

COST OR VALUATION

At 1st January, 2006 37,247 14,617 3,503 1,979 2,054 59,400
Currency realignment 828 29 129 – 8 994
Additions – 70 – 358 111 539
Disposals – (68) (506) (77) (5) (656)
Increase in revaluation upon
 transfer to investment properties 768 – – – – 768
Transfer to investment properties (3,197) – – – – (3,197)
      

At 31st December, 2006 35,646 14,648 3,126 2,260 2,168 57,848
Currency realignment 534 27 103 – 10 674
Additions – 805 – 1 30 836
Disposals – (659) – – (29) (688)
      

At 31st December, 2007 36,180 14,821 3,229 2,261 2,179 58,670
      

Comprising:
At cost 8,380 14,821 3,229 2,261 2,179 30,870
At valuation – 1991 27,800 – – – – 27,800
      

 36,180 14,821 3,229 2,261 2,179 58,670
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
 Leasehold Furniture,

 land and fixtures and Motor Plant and Computer

 buildings equipment vehicles machinery equipment Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

DEPRECIATION

At 1st January, 2006 8,725 11,482 2,876 1,672 1,113 25,868
Currency realignment 197 27 92 – 5 321
Provided for the year 761 1,094 207 131 472 2,665
Eliminated on disposals – (67) (380) (77) (5) (529)
Written back upon transfer
 to investment properties (777) – – – – (777)
      

At 31st December, 2006 8,906 12,536 2,795 1,726 1,585 27,548
Currency realignment 126 26 95 – 8 255
Provided for the year 676 1,096 219 177 471 2,639
Eliminated on disposals – (635) – – (27) (662)
      

At 31st December, 2007 9,708 13,023 3,109 1,903 2,037 29,780
      

CARRYING VALUES

At 31st December, 2007 26,472 1,798 120 358 142 28,890
      

At 31st December, 2006 26,740 2,112 331 534 583 30,300
      

Included in the leasehold land and buildings of the Group are certain lease payments that cannot be allocated reliably 
between the land and buildings element, and accordingly, the entire lease is treated as a finance lease and included in 
property, plant and equipment.

Certain of the leasehold land and buildings of the Group were revalued at 31st December, 1991. Had all the leasehold 
land and buildings been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation, the carrying value of these 
properties would have been stated at HK$17,886,000 (2006: HK$17,806,000).

The Group has pledged its leasehold land and buildings having a net book value of approximately HK$6.4 million 
(2006: HK$6.1 million) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
 Furniture,
 fixtures and Computer
 equipment equipment Total
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE COMPANY
COST
At 1st January, 2006 2,322 1,506 3,828
Additions 17 32 49
Disposals (14) (9) (23)
   

At 31st December, 2006 2,325 1,529 3,854
Additions 31 19 50
Disposals (33) (15) (48)
   

At 31st December, 2007 2,323 1,533 3,856
   

DEPRECIATION
At 1st January, 2006 1,241 676 1,917
Provided for the year 382 422 804
Eliminated on disposals (13) (9) (22)
   

At 31st December, 2006 1,610 1,089 2,699
Provided for the year 379 411 790
Eliminated on disposals (33) (15) (48)
   

At 31st December, 2007 1,956 1,485 3,441
   

CARRYING VALUES
At 31st December, 2007 367 48 415
   

At 31st December, 2006 715 440 1,155
   

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings comprise:

Leasehold
land and buildings

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000
Properties held under medium-term leases:
 – in Hong Kong 20,104 20,668

Properties held under long leases:
 – overseas 6,368 6,072
  

 26,472 26,740
  

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
THE COMPANY

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted investments at cost, including deemed capital
 contribution in subsidiaries 64,811 59,008
  

Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31st December, 2007 are set out in note 40.
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE
 THE GROUP

 2007&2006

 HK$’000

Cost of investment
 Unlisted 757
Share of post-acquisition profits and reserves, net of dividends received (304)
 

 453
 

Particulars of the associate at 31st December, 2007 are as follows:

     Percentage of

 Form of  Principal  issued share

 business Country of place of Class of capital held

Name of associate structure incorporation operation shares held by the Group Principal activities

     %

KSIP (Thailand 1989) Co., Ltd. Incorporated Thailand Thailand Ordinary 49 Inactive

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set out below:

 

 31.12.2007 31.12.2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 924 924
Total liabilities – –
  

Net assets 924 924
  

Group’s share of associate’s net assets 453 453
  

Revenue and results in respect of the disposed associate during the year ended 31st December, 2006 (see note 7):

 2006
 HK$’000

Revenue 340,963
 

Loss for the period 31,600
 

Group’s share of associates’ loss for the period (5,215)
 

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
 THE GROUP
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Structured bank deposits, stated at fair value 15,487 14,258
  

As at 31st December, 2007, structured bank deposits are measured at fair value, with upper bound interest rate of 3.7% 
(2006: 3.7%) per annum, which is also the effective interest rate, and with maturity date on 6th August, 2009.
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19. FOREIGN EXCHANGE YIELD LINKED DEPOSIT
Foreign exchange yield linked deposit represents a principal protected foreign exchange yield differential accrual 
index-linked deposit of US$1 million with maturity date in March 2012. The deposit does not carry interest but its 
potential return is linked to the performance of yields of a basket of currencies. The linking to foreign exchange yield 
is considered to be non-closely related embedded derivative. Upon initial recognition, the deposit is designated as 
financial asset at fair value through profit and loss. The fair value as at 31st December, 2007 is based on the valuation 
amount provided by the counterparty financial institution.

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured and interest free. The directors of the Company have agreed that 
no repayment will be demanded within the next twelve months from the balance sheet date, accordingly, the amounts 
are shown as non-current assets and measured at amortised cost at the effective interest rate of 5.33% (2006: 5.04%) per 
annum.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful amounts due from subsidiaries

THE COMPANY
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the year 23,137 26,000
Impairment loss reversed (5,998) (2,863)
  

At end of the year 17,139 23,137
  

21. INVENTORIES
THE GROUP

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Raw materials 120 163
Finished goods 221,614 289,698
  

 221,734 289,861
  

22. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
THE GROUP

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade debtors 222,760 242,874
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (11,681) (12,708)
  

 211,079 230,166
Deposits and prepayments 16,956 16,700
  

Total debtors, deposits and prepayments 228,035 246,866
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22. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)
The aged analysis of trade debtors, net of allowance for doubtful debts are as follows:

THE GROUP
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0–30 days 105,083 129,225
31–60 days 59,811 66,214
61–90 days 26,968 23,178
91–120 days 9,508 10,245
121–365 days 9,709 1,304
  

 211,079 230,166
  

The credit period on sales of goods to its trade debtors of the Group ranges from cash on delivery to 120 days. The 
Group has provided fully for all receivables over 270 days because historical experience is such that receivables that 
are past due beyond 270 days are generally not recoverable. Trade debtors between 120 days and 270 days are provided 
for based on estimated irrevocable amounts from the sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries out research on the creditability of the new customer and 
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers 
are reviewed regularly. During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest customers is 
less than 20% of the Group’s total turnover. There is no customer who represents more than 5% of the total balance of 
trade debtors.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of HK$65,989,000 (2006: 
HK$72,634,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided. There has not been 
a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any 
collateral over these balances. The average overdue age of these receivables is 30 days (2006: 25 days) overdue.

Aging of past due but not impaired
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Overdue:
0–30 days 50,735 52,665
31–60 days 8,894 14,476
61–90 days 2,135 4,076
91–120 days 1,075 1,202
121–270 days 3,150 215
  

Total 65,989 72,634
  

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

At beginning of the year 12,708 10,320
Amounts written off against debtors (790) (120)
Impairment loss recognised 873 3,923
Impairment loss reversed (1,110) (1,415)
  

At end of the year 11,681 12,708
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22. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)
In determining the recoverability of a trade debtor, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 
debtor from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The directors believe that there is no further 
credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are specific trade debtors with a balance of HK$3,910,000 (2006: 
HK$3,503,000) which have been placed under liquidation or in severe financial difficulties. The impairment recognised 
represents the difference between the carrying amount of the specific trade debtor and the expected liquidation 
proceeds.

The Company did not have any trade debtors at the balance sheet date.

23. INVESTMENTS HELD FOR TRADING
THE GROUP

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed securities:
 – Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 31,819 34,406
 – Equity securities listed elsewhere 36,753 31,478
  

 68,572 65,884
Quoted securities:
 – Mutual funds 140,310 113,949
  

 208,882 179,833
  

24. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Other financial assets include bills receivable, short term bank deposits and bank balances and cash.

The Group’s bills receivable are aged within 90 days.

Short term bank deposits and bank balances and cash comprise cash and deposits held by the Group and the Company 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

Bank balances and short-term bank deposits carry interest at market rates with average interest rate of 1.99% and 
4.62% (2006: 2.06% and 4.50%) per annum respectively.

25. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES
THE GROUP

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade creditors 30,979 62,209
Other creditors and accrued charges 19,878 21,868
  

 50,857 84,077
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25. CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES (continued)
The aged analysis of the trade creditors are as follows:

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

0–30 days 30,925 61,848
31–60 days 44 361
Over 90 days 10 –
  

 30,979 62,209
  

The Company did not have any trade creditors at the balance sheet date.

The credit period on purchase of goods ranges from 0 to 120 days. The Group has financial risk management policies 
in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

27. BANK BORROWINGS
 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
   

 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The bank borrowings, which are due
 within one year, comprise:
Bank loans
 – secured (Note) 25,089 12,424 – –
 – unsecured 32,998 32,487 25,000 25,000
Trust receipt and import loans 367,902 444,417 – –
    

 425,989 489,328 25,000 25,000
    

Note: The bank loans were secured by the Group’s bank deposits, foreign exchange yield linked deposit, investments held 
for trading and leasehold land and buildings from time to time.

All of the Group and the Company’s bank borrowings are arranged at floating interest rates and, the average interest 
rates for the year was 5.33% (2006: 5.04%) per annum.

28. AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES
The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

29. SHARE CAPITAL

 Number
 of shares Amount
  HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each

Authorised:
 At beginning and at end of the years 2006 and 2007 700,000,000 35,000
  

Issued and fully paid:
 At beginning and at end of the years 2006 and 2007 445,500,000 22,275
  



Notes to the Financial Statements

53Annual Report 2007 • KEE SHING (HOLDINGS) LIMITED

For the year ended 31st December, 2007

30. RESERVES
 Share Retained

 premium profits Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE COMPANY

At 1st January, 2006 153,728 233,288 387,016
Profit for the year – 43,176 43,176
Dividends paid (note 12) – (62,370) (62,370)
   

At 31st December, 2006 153,728 214,094 367,822
Profit for the year – 12,376 12,376
Dividends paid (note 12) – (44,550) (44,550)
   

At 31st December, 2007 153,728 181,920 335,648
   

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 31st December, 2007 comprised the retained 
profits of HK$181,920,000 (2006: HK$214,094,000).

31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
The Group’s deferred tax liabilities are set out below:

 Fair value Revaluation

 change of of leasehold Accelerated

 investment land and tax

 properties building depreciation Total

 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January, 2006 4,097 2,426 1,150 7,673
Charge to consolidated income statement for the year 645 – – 645
Charge to reserve for the year – 340 – 340
    

At 31st December, 2006 4,742 2,766 1,150 8,658
Charge to consolidated income statement for the year 6,528 – – 6,528
    

At 31st December, 2007 11,270 2,766 1,150 15,186
    

At the balance sheet date, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately HK$135 million (2006: HK$132 million) 
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of such unused tax 
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Such tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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32. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee:

At the balance sheet date, the Group and the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease 
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
   

 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,938 1,483 66 602
In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,568 23 50 60
    

 4,506 1,506 116 662
    

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group and the Company for certain of its office premises. 
Leases are negotiated for term ranging from one to three years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms.

The Group as lessor:

Property rental income earned during the year is disclosed in note 9. The properties held have committed tenants for 
the lease term ranging from one to three years and rentals are fixed over the lease terms.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises which fall due as follows:

THE GROUP
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 19,175 12,087
In the second to fifth year inclusive 24,776 9,676
  

 43,951 21,763
  

33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December, 2007, the financial guarantees given to banks by the Company in respect of banking facilities 
utilised by the subsidiaries amounted to HK$387,546,000 (2006: HK$457,667,000) of which HK$1,103,000 (2006: 
HK$6,254,000) was recognised in the Company’s balance sheet as financial guarantee contracts included in creditors 
and accrued charges.

34. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
The following assets were pledged to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group as at balance sheet dates:

THE GROUP
 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank deposits 920 1,812
Foreign exchange yield linked deposit 8,657 –
Investments held for trading 13,182 17,476
Leasehold land and buildings 6,368 6,072
  

 29,127 25,360
  

The Company did not pledge any assets at the balance sheet dates.
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35. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and other defined contribution retirement schemes for all 
qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control 
of trustees.

The retirement benefits cost charged to the consolidated income statement represents contributions payable to the 
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the scheme.

36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Other than the related guarantee provided by the Company as disclosed in note 33, the Group has the following 
transactions with related parties:

During 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of a former associate of the Group for the software 
development services to be provided to the Group at total consideration of HK$755,000. Full amounts had been paid up 
during the year ended 31st December, 2006. In addition, the Company also paid system maintenance fees of HK$167,000 
to the subsidiary of the former associate up to the effective date of disposal of the associate during the year ended 31st 
December, 2006. The above captioned associate was disposed of during the year ended 31st December, 2006 (see note 7).

The compensation to key management personnel comprises only the directors’ emoluments, details of which are 
disclosed in note 10.

37. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are 
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongong basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumption concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance of doubtful debts

The Group makes allowances for bad and doubtful debts when there is objective evidence that receivables balances 
are impaired. The balances of the receivables are based on the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the effective rate computed at initial recognition. The directors involved a considerable amount of judgment in 
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables including the current creditworthiness and the past collection 
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an 
impairment of their activity to make payments, additional allowance may be required.

38. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 27, net of 
cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital, 
reserves and retained profits.

The management reviews the capital structure regularly. As a part of this review, the management considers the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with the issued share capital and will balance the Group’s overall capital structure 
through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the 
repayment of existing debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2006.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

 THE GROUP THE COMPANY
   

 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
FVTPL
– Held for trading 208,882 179,833 – –
– Designated as at FVTPL 8,657 – – –
Loans and receivables (including
 cash and cash equivalents) 372,462 425,606 364,224 389,367
Available-for-sale financial assets 15,487 14,258 – –

    

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost 476,513 576,078 70,358 53,235
Financial guarantee contracts – – 1,103 6,254

    

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through 
various internal management reports which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks 
include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a 
timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures such risks.

(c) Foreign currency risk management

Some of the Group’s transactions were conducted in United States dollars, Japanese Yen, Euro, Renminbi, New 
Taiwanese dollars and Hong Kong dollars. Certain trade debtors, bank balances and deposits, trade creditors 
and bank borrowings of the Group are denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional currency 
of the operations to which they related. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group 
will manage the exchange rate exposures by using forward exchange contracts to hedge its foreign currency 
exposure in trading activities when considered appropriate.

The carrying amount of the Group and the Company foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate at the reporting 
date is as follows:

 Assets Liabilities
   

 2007 2006 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP
United States dollars 122,346 133,534 51,598 52,217
Japanese Yen 479 506 15,326 13,383
Euro 4,726 4,482 8 95
Renminbi 136 59 – –
New Taiwanese dollars 4,873 6,042 – 226
Hong Kong dollars 765 1,454 10,283 11,172
    

 133,325 146,077 77,215 77,093
    

THE COMPANY
Japanese Yen – – 7,998 7,487
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

As Hong Kong dollars is currently pegged to United States dollars, management considers that exposure to 
exchange fluctuation in respect of United States dollar is limited. The Group therefore mainly exposed to other 
currencies.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s and Company’s profit of loss in response 
to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group and Company have significant 
exposure at the balance sheet date.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred 
at the balance sheet date and had been applied to each of the group entities’ exposure to currency risk for non-
derivative financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables remain constant.

The stated changes represent the management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange 
rates over the period until the next annual balance sheet date. Results of the analysis as presented in the 
above table represent an aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit or loss measured in the 
respective functional currencies, translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the balance 
sheet date for presentation purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2006.

THE GROUP

 2007 2006
 

 Increase  Increase
 (decrease)  (decrease)
 in foreign Effect in foreign Effect
 exchange on profit exchange on profit
  rates or loss  rates or loss
  HK$’000  HK$’000

Japanese Yen 10% (1,485) 5% (644)
 (10%) 1,485 (5%) 644
Euro 10% 472 10% 439
 (10%) (472) (10%) (439)
Renminbi 10% 965 5% 489
 (10%) (965) (5%) (489)
New Taiwanese dollars 1% 49 1% 58
 (1%) (49) (1%) (58)

THE COMPANY

 2007 2006
 

 Increase  Increase
 (decrease)  (decrease)
 in foreign Effect in foreign Effect
 exchange on profit exchange on profit
  rates or loss  rates or loss
  HK$’000  HK$’000

Japanese Yen 10% (800) 5% (375)
 (10%) 800 (5%) 375
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(d) Interest rate risk management

The Group’s bank balances and short-term bank deposits carry interest at market rates which exposed the 
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group obtained financing through bank borrowings. All bank borrowings bear interests on floating rates 
and matured within one year which exposed the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group analyses its 
interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis, but the Group did not use floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps in 
managing its cash flow interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative 
financial instruments (including bank borrowings and bank balances and deposits) at the balance sheet date 
and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout 
the reporting period in the case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is 
used as it represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rate.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s 
profit for the year ended 31st December, 2007 would decrease/increase by HK$1,448,000 (2006: decrease/
increase by HK$1,591,000).

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the 
Company’s profit for the year ended 31st December, 2007 would decrease/increase by HK$124,000 (2006: 
increase/decrease by HK$63,000).

(e) Other price risks

The Group’s investments held for trading, comprising listed equity securities and quoted mutual funds, 
are measured at fair value at each balance sheet date. Certain investments held for trading of the Group are 
denominated in foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the operations to which they relate. 
The management has performed analysis of the nature of market risk associated with the equity securities and 
quoted mutual funds, including discussion with the investment advisors, and concluded that the quoted price 
risk and foreign currency risk are more prominent in evaluating the market risk of this kind of investments. 
The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles 
in accordance with the limits set by the Group and located in different jurisdictions.

The carrying amount of the Group’s investments held for trading denominated in foreign currency other than 
the functional currency of the operations to which they relate at the reporting date is as follows:

 

 2007 2006
 HK$’000 HK$’000

THE GROUP

United States dollars 124,752 96,723
Japanese Yen 10,542 14,315
Euro 12,878 2,146
Malaysia Ringgit 1,505 997
Hong Kong dollars 639 3,828

  

 150,316 118,009
  

Price sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to price risk at the reporting date. 
A 10% increase or decrease is used as it represents management’s assessment of the possible change in price of 
equity securities and quoted mutual funds.

If the prices of the respective equity securities and quote mutual funds had been 10% higher/lower, the 
Group’s profit for the year ended 31st December, 2007 would increase/decrease by HK$20,888,000 (2006: 
increase/decrease by HK$17,983,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of investments held-for-trading 
investments.
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(e) Other price risks (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit or loss in response to reasonably 
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group’s investments held for trading has 
significant exposure against Hong Kong dollars at the balance sheet date, excluding United States dollars 
which is pegged to Hong Kong dollars.

THE GROUP
 2007 2006

 

 Increase  Increase
 (decrease)  (decrease)
 in foreign Effect in foreign Effect
 exchange on profit exchange on profit
  rates or loss  rates or loss
  HK$’000  HK$’000

Japanese Yen 10% 1,054 5% 716
 (10%) (1,054) (5%) (716)
Euro 10% 1,288 10% 215
 (10%) (1,288) (10%) (215)
Malaysia Ringgit 10% 151 10% 100
 (10%) (151) (10%) (100)

(f) Credit risk managmenet

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The management has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit 
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. 
Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. 
The utilization of credit limits is regularly monitored.

Trade debtors consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. 
Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds and investments is limited because 
the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

As at 31st December, 2007, the Group and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause 
a financial loss to the Group and the Company due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties 
and financial guarantees provided by the Company is arising from:

• the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated and the 
Company’s balance sheets; and

• the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees issued by the Company as 
disclosed in note 33.

(g) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings closely.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31st December, 2007, the 
Group has available unutilised short-term bank loan facilities of approximately HK$561,737,000 (2006: 
HK$338,515,000).
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(g) Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity tables

The following tables detail the Group’s and the Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of 
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and the Company can be required to pay. The 
tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity tables (continued)

THE GROUP

 Weighted

 average    Total

 effective Less than  3 months- undiscounted Carrying

 interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount

 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31st December, 2007

Creditors and accrued charges – 37,968 696 2,272 40,936 40,936

Amounts due to minority

 shareholders of subsidiaries – 9,588 – – 9,588 9,588

Bank borrowings – variable rate 4.75 294,485 133,061 – 427,546 425,989
      

  342,041 133,757 2,272 478,070 476,513
      

 Weighted
 average    Total
 effective Less than  3 months- undiscounted Carrying
 interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount
 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31st December, 2006
Creditors and accrued charges – 70,871 632 4,839 76,342 76,342
Amounts due to minority
 shareholders of subsidiaries – 10,408 – – 10,408 10,408
Bank borrowings – variable rate 4.99 218,463 273,123 – 491,586 489,328
      

  299,742 273,755 4,839 578,336 576,078
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39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(g) Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

THE COMPANY

 Weighted

 average    Total

 effective Less than  3 months- undiscounted Carrying

 interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount

 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31st December, 2007

Creditors and accrued charges – 2,232 – 889 3,121 3,121

Amounts due to subsidiaries – 42,237 – – 42,237 42,237

Bank borrowings – variable rate 5.46 10,156 15,122 – 25,278 25,000
      

  54,625 15,122 889 70,636 70,358
      

 Weighted
 average    Total
 effective Less than  3 months- undiscounted Carrying
 interest rate 1 month 1-3 months 1 year cash flows amount
 % HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31st December, 2006
Creditors and accrued charges – 2,405 12 685 3,102 3,102
Amounts due to subsidiaries – 25,133 – – 25,133 25,133
Bank borrowings – variable rate 5.03 – 25,252 – 25,252 25,000
      

  27,538 25,264 685 53,487 53,235
      

(h) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• the fair value of financial assets (including investments held for trading) with standard terms and 
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid 
prices and ask prices respectively; and

• the fair value of other financial assets, with the exception of the foreign exchange yield linked deposit, 
and all financial liabilities are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based 
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market transactions as 
input.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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40. SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the subsidiaries at 31st December, 2007 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal place of 
operation

Issued/registered and
fully paid capital

Percentage of issued/
registered capital held 

by the Company Principal activities

Ordinary
Non–voting

preferred
(Note) %

Asia Fame International
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100* Manufacturing of 
electroplating 
chemicals and 
solutions

Bright Star Limited Cook Islands Hong Kong US$1,000 – 100 Investment holding

Charterway Developments 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100 Property investment

E.P. Resources Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100* Securities investment 
and trading

Electrochemical 
 Technologies
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100* Securities investment

EngoTech Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100* Manufacturing of 
and trading in 
electroplating 
chemicals and 
solutions

Ever Channel Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Global Trade Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Gold Asset Properties
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Guanheng Trading
 (Shanghai) Co.,, Ltd. #

Shanghai, PRC Elsewhere
 in the PRC

US$350,000 – 100* Inactive

Jollifair Investments 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100* Investment holding

Kee Shing (Coins) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 – 100* Securities trading

Kee Shing Hardware
 Supplies Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$800,000 HK$400,000 100 Trading in
 stainless steel

Kee Shing Industrial
 Products Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong and
 Taiwan,

HK$200 HK$1,000,000 100* Investment holding 
and trading in 
electroplating 
chemicals and 
metals

Kee Shing International 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100* Securities investment

Kee Shing (Investments)
  Limited

Cook Islands Hong Kong US$1,000 – 100* Investment holding
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40. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Principal place of 
operation

Issued/registered and
fully paid capital

Percentage of issued/
registered capital held 

by the Company Principal activities

Ordinary
Non–voting

preferred
(Note) %

Kee Shing Property
 Consultants (Shanghai)
 Co., Ltd.#

Shanghai, PRC Elsewhere
 in the PRC

RMB2,902,060 – 100* Property management

Kingsview Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Klendo Limited Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90* Property investment

KSIP (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Republic of 
 Singapore

Republic of 
 Singapore

S$1,000,000 – 51 Trading in 
electroplating 
chemicals and metal 
plating products

Pacific Apex International 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100* Inactive

Pacific Wide Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Sam Wing International 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$200 HK$2,160,000 100* Trading in chemicals 
and securities 
investment

Sure Glory Ventures, Inc. British Virgin 
 Islands

Australia US$2 - 100* Investment holding

Topbase Properties Limited Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Top Image Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Trendex Investment Limited Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 100* Property investment

Union Channel Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Union Crown Properties 
 Limited

Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

Winbase Properties Limited Hong Kong Elsewhere
 in the PRC

HK$10,000 – 90 Property investment

* Directly held by the Company

# A wholly foreign owned enterprise.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital subsisted at 31st December, 2007 or at any time during the year.

Note: The non-voting preferred shares, which are not held by the Company, practically carry no rights to dividends or 
to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of the respective companies or to participate in any 
distribution on winding up.
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Particulars of  Investment Properties
At 31st December, 2007

LOCATION TYPE LEASE TERM

HONG KONG

Units A, B, C, D and E on 2nd Floor Commercial Medium-term
Kee Shing Centre   lease
74-76 Kimberley Road
Tsimshatsui
Kowloon
Hong Kong

ELSEWHERE IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

Units 1003, 1005, 1010, 1011, 1012 Commercial Medium- term
1013 on 10th Floor   lease
the whole of 11th and 12th Floors and the
Multi-function Room on Roof
Novel Building
887 Huai Hai Road Central
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

15th Floor, Shui On Plaza Commercial Medium-term
333 Huai Hai Road Central   lease
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

5D, 9F, 15F, 16A, 17F, 20A, 22C, 24E, Residential Long lease
26A, 26F, 27F, 28A
of Huadua Court, Haihua Garden
the Junction of Xiexu Road and
Dapu Road
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

10D, 17D, 22D, 25F, 27C, 27F, Residential Long lease
33D, 33F of Huali Court
Haihua Garden
the Junction of Xiexu Road and
Dapu Road
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

7B, 7F of Huaying Court Residential Long lease
Haihua Garden
the Junction of Xiexu Road
and Dapu Road
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

5B, 9C, 9D, 10D, 11C, 12D, 24C, 33E Residential Long lease
of Huaxin Court
Haihua Garden
the Junction of Xiexu Road and Dapu Road
Luwan District
Shanghai
People’s Republic of China

OVERSEAS

39 Jalan Pemimpin #03-01 Warehouse Long lease
Tai Lee Industrial Building
Singapore
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